IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TED MICHAEL DONKO,)	NO.	83037	
Appellant,)			Electronically Filed Nov 16 2021 09:40 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.)			Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)			
Respondent.)			
APPELLANT'S) S OPEN	NING I	<u>BRIEF</u>	

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 671-2700

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Attorney for Appellant

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- A. Statute granting jurisdiction to review the judgment: NRS 177.015.
- B. Amended Judgment of Conviction filed May 25, 2021; Notice of Appeal filed April 21, 2020.
- C. This appeal is from a final judgment entered on May 26, 2021.

ROUTING STATEMENT

D. This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1) because appellant was convicted of Category B felonies.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The Court violated Donko's protections from double jeopardy by improperly increasing his sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on November 26, 2019, alleging two counts of battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm; two counts of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon; and one count of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 1). After a preliminary hearing on December 18, 2019, Donko was bound over to District Court. (I 7). On December 19, 2019, the State filed an Information alleging two counts of battery with use resulting in substantial bodily harm; three counts of attempt murder with use; one count of assault with a deadly weapon; one count of discharging a firearm at or into an occupied structure; and one count of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 8). On December 20, 2019, Donko appeared in district court and entered a plea of not guilty. (I 205). On February 7, 2020, the defense filed a motion to withdraw due to conflict. (I 120). The court denied the motion. (I 208). On February 10, 2020, the State filed an Amended Information reflecting severance of the charge of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 123). On February 13, 2020, the State filed a Second Amended Information alleging the bifurcated weapon charge. (I 127). Jurors convicted on all counts after a four-day trial. The court sentenced Donko to 24-60 months on count I; 24-60 months on

count II, concurrent; 36-96 months on Count III, plus a consecutive term of 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement; 36-96 months on Count IV, plus consecutive 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count III; 36-96 months on Count V, plus a consecutive term of 12-30 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count IV; 12-30 months on Count VI, concurrent to Count V; 12-30 months on Count VII, concurrent to Count VI; and 12-30 months on Count VIII, concurrent with Count VII, with 150 days credit for time served. The State filed the judgment of conviction on April 28, 2020. Although the judgment of conviction provides for Counts I and II to run consecutively to Counts III, IV, and V, the judgment also provides for an aggregate sentence of 144-378 months. (I 194). On June 3, 2020, the State filed a motion to address the aggregate sentence calculations based on a variance between the aggregate sentence and the individual sentences. On November 24, 2020, the Court granted the State's motion and ordered that Donko's aggregate sentence reflect an increase to 168-438 months. (I 197; 217A-217B). The State filed an Amended Judgment of Conviction on May 25, 2021. (V 979). Donko filed a second Notice of Appeal filed April 21, 2020. (V 985). On June 15, 2021, Donko filed a motion to consolidate his appeals on the grounds that the resentencing issue had already been fully briefed in Case No. 81075, and that the only issue arising from the Amended Judgment of Conviction was the resentencing issue. The State did not oppose consolidation. On June 17, 2021, this Court denied the motion to consolidate.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 1, 2019, Las Vegas resident Ted Donko lived at 299 North Linn Lane. (IV 845). He spent most of that morning at home, and went to Sonic for food and to AutoZone across the street. (IV 846). Donko is a mechanic, and often worked on several cars at a time at his house. (IV 847). After high school, Donko admitted that he got into trouble and incurred convictions for attempted grand larceny and attempted burglary. (IV 845). Donko described his neighborhood as "rough," and said it is generally not a safe area of town; Donko testified that the neighborhood sees a lot of gang activity and gang violence. (IV 848). Donko had recently heard that a man nicknamed "Shorty" had been attacked in the area in the days leading up to the subject incident. (IV 849). Donko knew a man named DeAndre Woods from the neighborhood, and he admitted that he and Woods had occasionally smoked marijuana together. (IV 847). Donko met Woods sometime in 2017, and had bought marijuana from Woods at times. (IV 847, 849). Donko testified that on the night of September 30, 2019, he had driven around the neighborhood in an older model sedan with a friend, and testified

that the friend had taken him to a dispensary at about ten p.m. (IV 855, 858).

Jonathan Sanchez-Loza (Sanchez) lived at 104 Linn Lane in Las Vegas, Nevada. (III 680). At about 11:30 a.m. on the morning of October 1, 2019, he received a phone call from his friend, Fernando Espinoza, and went to meet him at 56 North Linn Lane. (III 681). Another friend named Chuck was already there with a friend named Gilbert. DeAndre Woods was also present. Sanchez and Espinoza planned to load some items from the house into a pickup truck. (III 663; 681).

Woods testified that the previous night, on September 30, 2019, he had been at his ex-girlfriend's house at 56 Linn Lane when two men asked him if he knew someone named "Shorty." Woods testified that one man wore a black shirt and that the other wore a red shirt. Woods claimed that he did not know the men, and that he told them he didn't know Shorty. He described one man as short and Mexican, and later identified the other as Ted Donko. (III 705-06). The men left in an older Toyota after Woods's conversation with them. (III 706; IV 708).

The next day, Woods testified that he was clearing out some things from his ex-girlfriend's house at 56 Linn Lane and loading them into the white truck in the driveway. (IV 708). Although Woods did not know

Espinoza and Sanchez very well, the two were helping him move things out of the house, along with Gilbert. (IV 709-10).

At around 12:15 p.m., Woods was sitting in a chair between the driveway and the truck when a Toyota pulled up in front of the house. (IV 712). Woods testified that a man got out of the car, said "Fuck Shorty," and started shooting. Woods heard multiple shots. (IV 713). Woods claimed that the shooter was the same man who had asked him about Shorty the previous night, and testified that the man was wearing a red shirt. (IV 713, 714). Woods testified that the car left and headed toward Charleston Boulevard. (IV 715).

Sanchez testified that as he was in the driveway sometime after noon, he heard someone ask, "Where's Shorty?" He looked around and saw a Toyota in the street and a man pointing a gun at him. Espinoza was behind Sanchez and behind the truck. (III 682-83). Sanchez testified that he was shot and fell to the ground in the driveway. (III 683). He heard about ten rounds fired, and saw Espinoza also fall to the ground. (III 684). Sanchez called his uncle, and lost consciousness intermittently. He was shot in the thigh and leg. (III 684). Sanchez now walks with a cane and has a bullet permanently lodged in his leg. (III 685). Espinoza was shot in the arm and the abdomen, and spent weeks in the hospital. He underwent surgery on his

right arm. (III 664). He bears a scar that runs from the middle of his hand to his wrist (III 664).

Local resident Genaro Ramos was working on his mother's car in the driveway of 5617 White Cap Street on the day of this incident. (III 693). He heard between eight and ten gunshots at around 12:15 p.m. (III 694). He testified that he subsequently saw an older, gold-colored Toyota Corolla speeding down his street a couple of minutes after he heard the gunshots. (III 695). The car stopped and a man got out of the car and began patting his waist and searching his pockets. (III 696). The man briefly returned to the car and then started walking north on Surf Lane. (III 696). Ramos described the man as a white male in his thirties who was wearing a red shirt. (III 697). Ramos identified the Toyota Corolla impounded by Metro as the car he saw speeding down his street. (III 698). Cathryn All resides at 5675 Big Sea Street. She provided video from her home's security system to Metro officers which showed a man in a red shirt walking by her house at the approximate time of these events. (III 591-93).

On October 1, 2019, Metro police officer Alan Hennig was dispatched to the scene of a shooting at 56 North Linn Lane in Las Vegas, Nevada. The suspects had been described on the 911 call as two Hispanic men who had pulled up in a gray Toyota Corolla; the shooter was described as wearing red

and about five feet, eleven inches in height; the driver was wearing black. When Hennig arrived at the scene, he found Sanchez and Espinoza lying in the driveway with gunshot wounds. One had been hit in the leg and the other through the hand and in the stomach. (III 544-45; 551). Hennig saw two bullet holes in the white truck parked in the driveway, and found eight shell casings in the street. (III 546). CSA Strumillo examined the casings and determined they were Winn 40 casings. (III 568-69). She identified three bullet holes on the white truck in the driveway, two bullet holes in the garage door, and damage to a chair in the driveway of the house. (III 572-76).

Metro Det. Jason Marin was also dispatched to the scene. (IV 806).

During his interview at the scene with DeAndre Woods, Woods told Marin that the shooter was a Hispanic male adult, about five feet eleven inches, with a shaved or bald head, and wearing a red t-shirt. (IV 809). Marin testified that the cartridges found in the Toyota matched the casings found at the scene of the shooting. (IV 812).

Metro Officer Corbett was also dispatched to the scene and assisted in locating the Corolla involved in the shooting. Officers found the car in the general area of the shooting, a few blocks away from 56 N. Linn Lane. (III 553). The Corolla was unregistered and unoccupied when located. (III 554).

An unspent round was found on the passenger floor of the car. (III 555). Metro Officer Gadea was also dispatched to the scene and canvassed the area for evidence. He found a red shirt on the side of the road near Big Sea and Sea Way streets, a few blocks from Linn Lane. (III 557-58).

CSA Strumillo examined several items of clothing from the scene, including a white tank top, shorts, DeAndre Woods's sweatpants, and a blue shirt. (III 579-82). Strumillo also located several bullet fragments under the white truck, in the bed of the truck, and near the chain link fence. (III 583-84). CSA Grover examined the grey Toyota Corolla found at 5677 White Cap. (III 601). Grover impounded a Win 40 Smith & Wesson cartridge from the car. (III 605). Grover also found a license plate between the seat and the console that he processed for prints. (III 606). Grover also looked for prints on the exterior and interior of the car, and submitted prints from the car doors and the license plate for testing. (III 607; 612).

Allison Rubino, a Metro forensic analyst, testified that she obtained a mixture of two DNA profiles from the red shirt retrieved by Metro officers; she testified that Donko's DNA profile was included in 99 percent of the DNA mixture, with the remaining one percent from an unknown contributor. (III 638). Metro forensic analyst Kathryn Aoyama testified that only one of the nine fingerprints collected by investigators was of sufficient quality for

submission to the national Automated Fingerprint Identification System (AFIS). She testified that the print, taken from the license plate found inside the Toyota, matched with the left middle finger of Donko. (III 656, 659).

After viewing a photo lineup, Woods identified Donko as the shooter, and testified that he was "95 percent" sure of his identification. (IV 714; 720). Woods admitted that he had previously told detectives at the scene that the shooter was Hispanic. (IV 721). Woods admitted that he told detectives that the shooter had no tattoos, although Donko has numerous tattoos on his arms, neck, and face. (IV 721, 860). Although he failed to identify Donko during his initial testimony, Genearo Ramos was permitted to retake the stand during trial over the objection of the defense. Ramos testified that during his initial examination, he recognized Donko as the man he saw exiting the Toyota on the day of the shooting. (IV 759).

At trial, Donko testified in his own defense. He denied owning a gun, and denied being involved in this shooting. (IV 845). Donko denied meeting or knowing Fernando Espinoza. Donko denied having any problems with Woods or Sanchez, both of whom he knew from the neighborhood. (IV 849). Donko testified that he had stored some of his clothing in a car for a brief period while he was homeless, and that some of his clothes had been taken in a car burglary. (IV 861). Donko steadfastly maintained his

innocence in these events and testified under oath that he had no involvement in this shooting. (IV 845-46).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should find that the trial court violated Donko's constitutional rights by improperly increasing his sentence after the Judgment of Conviction was filed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court violated Donko's protections from double jeopardy by improperly increasing his sentence.

"The Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution precludes courts from increasing a sentence when the defendant has a reasonable expectation that the sentence is final." *Miranda v. State*, 114 Nev. 385, 386, 956 P.2d 1377, 1378 (1998), citing *United States v. DiFrancesco*, 449 U.S. 117, 135, 101 S. Ct. 426, 436 (1980). A district court lacks jurisdiction to amend a judgment of conviction when the defendant begins serving his sentence. *State v. Kinsey*, 109 Nev. 519, 523, 853 P.2d 109, 112 (1993). In Nevada, the showing of necessity required to correct an illegal sentence without violating the Double Jeopardy Clause is "more heightened under the Nevada Constitution than its federal counterpart." In this area of jurisprudence, "Nevada law embraces a more expansive interpretation of

constitutional rights than federal law." *Wilson v. State*, 123 Nev. 587, 595, 170 P.3d 975, 980 (2007).

Under NRS 176.555, a district court may correct an illegal sentence at any time. The Nevada Supreme Court has defined an "illegal" sentence as a sentence "at variance with the controlling sentencing statute or when 'the court goes beyond its authority by acting without jurisdiction or imposing a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum provided ..." Edwards v. State, 112 Nev. 704, 708, 918 P.2d 321, 324 (1996)N (internal citations omitted). At the sentencing hearing on April 20, 2020, the court sentenced Donko to 24-60 months on count 1, 24-60 months on count 2, concurrent; and 36-96 months on Count 3, plus a consecutive term of 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement. The court initially suggested that Count 3 would run consecutive to counts 1 and 2. (V 974). The court imposed 36-96 months on Count 4, plus a consecutive term of 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count 3; 36-96 months on Count 5, plus a consecutive term of 12-30 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count 4; 12-30 months on Count 6, concurrent to Count 5; 12-30 months on Count 7, concurrent to Count 6; and 12-30 months on Count 8, concurrent with Count 7, with 150 days credit for time served. (V 974-75).

Significantly, after imposing sentence on the individual counts, the court explicitly stated: "So the only things that will run consecutive are the three Attempt Murders with Use of a Deadly Weapon." (V 974) (emphasis added). Consistent with this pronouncement, the court stated: "That is an aggregate of -- it should be a minimum of 12 years, a maximum of 31.5, a minimum of 12 years, a maximum of 31.5 [sic], including the deadly weapon enhancements." (V 974-75). The original judgment of conviction reflected an aggregate sentence of 144-378 months as specifically articulated by the court, consistent with only Counts 3, 4, and 5 running consecutive to the other sentences. (I 194-196). The State filed the judgment of conviction on April 28, 2020, also reflecting an aggregate sentence of 144-378 months. (I 194).

On June 3, 2020, the State filed a motion to address the aggregate sentence calculations, noting that the Nevada Department of Corrections sought clarification based on the position that the actual sentences imposed resulted in an aggregate sentence of 168-438 months because the judgment of conviction implied that Counts 1 and 2 were to run consecutively to Counts 3, 4, and 5 and their weapon enhancements. (I 197-199). At a hearing on the State's motion on June 15, 2020, the defense opposed any changes to sentence, and noted that the court had clearly indicated that an aggregate

sentence of 12 years to 31.5 years had been imposed. The defense noted that the court had explicitly stated an intention to run only counts 3, 4, and 5, the attempt murder counts and weapons enhancements, consecutive to each other. (V 977-78). However, on November 24, 2020, the court granted the State's motion in a minute order, and ordered that Donko's aggregate sentence reflect an increase to 168-438 months. The State filed the Amended Judgment of Conviction on May 25, 2021. (V 979).

NRS 176.035(1) provides in relevant part, "For offenses committed on or after July 1, 2014, if the court imposes the sentences to run consecutively, the court must pronounce the minimum and maximum aggregate terms of imprisonment." Here, after Donko filed his Notice of Appeal and after he commenced serving his sentence, the district court improperly increased his minimum and maximum sentences in violation of Nevada's prohibition against double jeopardy. First, a district court generally lacks jurisdiction to amend a judgment of conviction once the defendant begins serving his sentence. State v. Kimsey, 109 Nev. 519, 523, 853 P.2d 109, 112 (1993). A defendant begins serving his sentence when the judgment of conviction signed by the judge is entered by the clerk. See NRS 176.105(3); NRS 176.335(3); Miller v. Hayes, 95 Nev. 927, 929, 604 P.2d 117, 118 (1979). Before the written judgment of conviction is entered, "the district judge ha[s] jurisdiction to modify or suspend his earlier decision" because the defendant has not yet begun serving his sentence. *Miller*, 95 Nev. at 929, 604 P.2d at 118. Here, Donko had commenced serving his sentence and had filed a notice of appeal when the State sought to change the sentence.

Generally, a district court retains jurisdiction to correct an illegal sentence at any time under NRS 176.555. An "illegal" sentence is "one at variance with the controlling sentencing statute" or when "the court goes beyond its authority by acting without jurisdiction or imposing a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum provided...." Edwards v. State, 112 Nev. 704, 708, 918 P.2d 321, 324 (1996) (internal citations omitted). When the district court has jurisdiction to correct an illegal sentence, it may do so "only to the extent necessary to bring the sentence into compliance with the statute." Miranda v. State, 114 Nev. 385, 387, 956 P.2d 1377, 1378 (1998) (citing U.S. v. Fogel, 829 F.2d 77, 88 (D.C. Cir. 1987)). In Miranda, the district court sentenced the defendant to 18 to 36 months in prison. Miranda, 114 Nev. at 386, 956 P.2d at 1377. The sentence violated Nevada's 40% rule and was facially illegal. NRS 193.130(1). To correct the illegality, the district court subsequently increased the maximum term to 45 months. *Miranda*, 114 Nev. at 386, 956 P.2d at 1377. On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed:

... [t]o comply with the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Nevada Constitution, a district court may correct an illegal sentence by increasing its severity only when necessary to bring the sentence into compliance with the pertinent statute, and a correction that increases sentence severity is 'necessary' only when there is no other, less severe means of correcting the illegality.

Id. at 387, 956 P.2d at 1378. The Court noted that "the sentencing illegality in the present case could have been corrected by lowering the minimum terms rather than increasing the maximum terms, and, therefore, the correction imposed was not necessary to bring the sentences into compliance with the pertinent sentencing statute." Id.

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