IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TED MICHAEL DONKO,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 14 2021 10:51 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 83037

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Amended Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

AUDREY M. CONWAY Nevada Bar #005611 Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street, Ste. 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the district court did not violate Donko's protections against Double Jeopardy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 19, 2019, TED MICHAEL DONKO (hereinafter "Donko") was charged by way of Information as follows: Counts 1 and 2 – Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (Category B Felony – NRS 200.481); Counts 3, 4, and 5 – Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony – NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165); Count 6 – Assault with a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony – NRS 200.471 - NOC 50201); Count 7 – Discharging Firearm At or Into Occupied Structure, Vehicle, Aircraft, or Watercraft (Category B Felony – NRS 202.285); and Count 8 – Ownership or

Possession of Firearm by Prohibited Person (Category B Felony – NRS 202.360). I AA 8-11.

On February 10, 2020, the State filed an Amended Information whereby it severed Count 8 – Ownership or Possession of Firearm by Prohibited Person. I AA 123-25. Donko's jury trial commenced that same day. II AA 326. On February 13, 2020, the State filed a Second Amended Information that reflected the bifurcated charge of Ownership or Possession of Firearm by Prohibited Person. I AA 127-28.

On February 13, 2020, after four (4) days of trial, the jury found Donko guilty of the following: Counts 1 and 2 – Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Counts 3, 4, and 5 – Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 6 – Assault with a Deadly Weapon; and Count 7 – Discharging Firearm At or Into Occupied Structure, Vehicle, Aircraft, Watercraft. IV AA 942-43. After reaching this verdict, the second phase of the trial, involving solely Donko's bifurcated charge Ownership or Possession of Firearm by Prohibited Person, commenced. V AA 949. The jury also found Donko guilty of such charge. V AA 958.

On April 20, 2020, the district court adjudicated Donko guilty of all charges and orally pronounced the following terms of years for his sentence to the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC"): Count 1 - 24 to 60 months; Count 2 - 24 to 60 months, concurrent with Count 1; Count 3 - 36 to 96 months, consecutive to Counts 1 and 2, plus 12 to 30 months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon, consecutive

to Count 3; Count 4-36 to 96 months, plus a consecutive term of 12 to 30 months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon, to run consecutive to Count 3; Count 5-36 to 96 months, plus 12 to 30 months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon, to run consecutive to Count 4; Count 6-12 to 30 months, to run concurrent; Count 7-12 to 30 months, to run concurrent; and Count 8-12 to 30 months, to run concurrent. V AA 973-74.

The Court further clarified that the only sentences that would run consecutive were "the three Attempt Murders with Use of a Deadly Weapon," Donko would receive an aggregate sentence of 12 to 31.5 years, including the deadly weapon enhancements, the district court would retain jurisdiction over the restitution, and he would receive 150 days credit for time served. V AA 974-75. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on April 28, 2020, provided the aforementioned sentences, and clarified more fully that Count 3 would run consecutive to Counts 1 and 2, but listed the aggregate total sentence, including the deadly weapon enhancements, as 144 to 378 months, and the aggregate sentence, not including the deadly weapon enhancements, as 108 to 288 months. I AA 194-96.

On June 3, 2020, the State filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Address Aggregate Sentence Calculations, wherein the State argued that the appropriate aggregate sentence, based upon the charges at sentencing, was 168 to 438 months. I

¹ Appellant's Statement of the Case mistakenly lists the weapons enhancements as 36-96 months. AOB at 3.

3

AA 197-204. On November 24, 2020, the district court explained by way of Minute Order that while it made a clerical error in calculating the aggregate sentence, it appropriately held that the weapons enhancements would run consecutive to the Attempt Murder charges, and Count 3 would run consecutive to Counts 1 and 2. I AA 217A. Accordingly, the district court found that the appropriate aggregate sentence was 168 to 438 months and ordered that an Amended Judgment of Conviction be filed. V AA 217A.

The Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 25, 2021. Donko filed a Notice of Appeal on June 1, 2021 and his Opening Brief ("AOB") on November 16, 2021.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 1, 2019, at around 12:15 PM, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") officers responded to a shooting at 56 North Linn Lane in Clark County, Nevada. III AA 544-45. The call to law enforcement described the shooter as a Hispanic male, about 5 foot 11, and was wearing red. III AA 545, 550. Additionally, a gray Toyota Corolla was seen fleeing the scene of the shooting. III AA 545.

When officers arrived at the crime scene, they saw the two male shooting victims lying on the ground next to a truck. III AA 545. One of the men, Jonathan Sanchez-Loza, had been shot in the leg, while the other, Fernando Espinoza, had

been shot in the abdomen and the hand. III AA 545, 662, 684. Officers also observed bullet impacts on the truck and the garage bay door of the residence as well as eight shell casings in the street. III AA 546.

Sanchez-Lopez testified that on the day of the shooting, he received a call at around 11:30 AM from Espinoza. III AA 681. Eventually, he met up with Espinoza, a man named Gilbert, a man named DeAndre Woods, and the owner of the home to take trash to the dump. III AA 681. Ultimately, however, he helped moved furniture into the white truck that was at the scene. III AA 682. At about 12:00 PM he recalled someone saying "Hey, where's Shorty?" III AA 682. Sanchez-Loza then looked over in the direction of the voice and saw the passenger of a Toyota, with the passenger door open, pointing a firearm at him. III AA 682, 687. Sanchez-Loza was then shot and dropped to the ground. III AA 682-83. While lying on the ground, he recalled seeing Espinoza fall into the back of the truck and, while in and out of consciousness, he called his uncle who lived up the street. III AA 684. Sanchez-Lopez heard about ten gunshots total. III AA 684.

The next thing Sanchez-Lopez remembered was waking up in the hospital. III AA 684. He had been shot in the right thigh and left thigh. III AA 684. As of the day of his trial testimony, he still had a bullet lodged in his left leg and had to walk with a cane. III AA 685. Sanchez-Lopez further testified that he had undergone surgery in his leg, still had pain, and had scars from the injuries. III AA 685.

Espinoza confirmed that he too was at the residence moving furniture using his brother's vehicle. III AA 663. However, Espinoza testified that while he was facing the street at the time of the shooting, he did not know from where the shots originated. III AA 671. Espinoza also testified that he almost did not come to court because he did not want to testify and only participated because he was under subpoena. III AA 666-67. However, LVMPD Detective Jason Marin testified that when he interviewed Espinoza at UMC the day after the shooting, Espinoza told him that while Espinoza was at the address of the shooting on October 1, 2019, an older model Toyota pulled up to the residence. IV AA 818. He further explained to Detective Marin that he saw a passenger get out of the vehicle and had either asked about Shorty or said "Fuck Shorty." IV AA 818. However, Espinoza stated he did not get a good look at the shooter. IV AA 818.

The day before the shooting, on September 30, 2019, Woods recalled sitting on a chair at his ex-girlfriend's house when two young men pulled up in an older Toyota. III AA 704-05; IV AA 707-08. The two men, one wearing a black shirt and the other wearing a red shirt, came up to Woods and asked if he knew someone named Shorty. III AA 704-05. Woods responded to the men that he did not know who Shorty was and the men left. III AA 705.

At the time of the shooting on the following day, Woods testified that he was sitting on a chair while the other men were moving furniture to the truck. IV AA

708. While sitting, Woods saw the same Toyota pull up. IV AA 712. Woods then saw the same white male wearing a red shirt that had asked him who Shorty was on the previous day, and that he later identified as Donko, exit the vehicle and point a gun at the person in front of Woods. IV AA 713-14. Donko then said "Fuck Shorty" and started shooting. IV AA 713. The Toyota subsequently fled from the scene. IV AA 714. Woods, appearing scared, later described the shooter to responding officers. IV AA 809. He described the shooter as a Hispanic male, about 5 foot 11, 200 pounds, had nearly bald hair, and was wearing a red t-shirt. IV AA 809.

Genaro Ramos, who was down the street working on his mother's vehicle at her home, heard about eight to ten gunshots. III AA 694-95. A couple of minutes later, he noticed a vehicle driving quickly down the street. III AA 694-95. Ramos recalled that the vehicle he saw speeding was an older model, gold, sand colored, Toyota Corolla. III AA 695. After the Toyota sped by, he saw the vehicle stop, and then saw a person, wearing a red shirt, exit the vehicle, look around suspiciously, and search his pockets. III AA 696. The person then tried to go back to the vehicle, but then started running or walking down the street. III AA 696. Ramos described this person as a white male in his 30s. III AA 697. Although Ramos did not initially identify Donko as the individual he saw at trial, after he was excused and the State explained he was free to leave, Ramos indicated to the State that he was nervous. IV AA 755-56. When the State asked why that was, Ramos stated it was his first time

testifying and that the man he saw in court was the man he saw exiting the Toyota on the day of the shooting. IV AA 756. Based on this new information, the State recalled Ramos who nervously identified Donko as the man he saw wearing a red shirt, parking the Toyota Corolla, and walking up the street on the day of the shooting. IV AA 759-760.

After LVMPD officers responded to the crime scene, they canvassed the surrounding streets for evidence. III AA 557-58. Eventually, officers found a vehicle matching the description provided, an unregistered, gray or silver, four-door Toyota Corolla, in the same neighborhood as the shooting. III AA 553; IV AA 811, 813. When officers brought Ramos to view the Toyota Corolla, he told them it was the same vehicle he saw speed by after he heard the gunshots. III AA 698. After locating the vehicle, investigators processed the vehicle for fingerprints and recovered a license plate, a .40 caliber cartridge, as well as a bullet that had a head stamp that matched the casings found at the scene. IV AA 812. The latent prints that were removed from the license plate that was recovered were later determined to be a match to Donko's left middle finger. IV AA 818-19.

Officers also found a red shirt which appeared to have been laid on the side of the road in the same neighborhood as the crime scene. III AA 557-58; IV AA 814. The DNA buccal swab that was later obtained from Donko matched the DNA that was swabbed from the red shirt. IV AA 823. Officers also recovered surveillance

video from a resident that depicted an individual matching the description of the shooting suspect who was wearing a red shirt and had nearly bald hair in the video. IV AA 814-15. The suspect in the video was seen walking in the direction where the red shirt was eventually found. IV AA 815.

Later, officers conducted a photo lineup with Woods. IV AA 819. They showed Woods six photos, including one of Donko. IV AA 819. Complying with routine practice, all of the men in the photos met the same description as Donko as far as height, weight, skin tone, and hair style. IV AA 819. LVMPD Detective Jason Marin, who had conducted the photo lineup, provided the directions to Donko and after Donko signed the form stating he understood the instructions for the photo lineup. Woods wrote down that the man in photo number five was the shooter and he was 95% sure. IV AA 821. Donko was photo number five. IV AA 821. Woods testified that the reason he was 95% sure as opposed to 100% was because when he had previously seen the shooter his hair was shorter which made him only 95% sure. IV AA 720. Further, when asked whether learning later on that Donko was white instead of Hispanic changed his mind on his identification, he stated no. IV AA 721. Moreover, seeing that Donko did not have tattoos did not change Woods' mind about Donko being the shooter because Woods was not focused on the tattoos when he was trying to get out of the crossfire on the day of the shooting. IV AA 721.

Detective Marin testified at trial that it did not change the officers' investigation when Woods originally described the shooter as a Hispanic male because he could have interpreted it differently since he had such a brief interaction with the shooter. IV AA 820. In fact, a race mix up is common. IV AA 820. Notably, Detective Marin also testified that after Donko was apprehended the first time, he only noticed Donko's tattoos was when he was sitting two feet from him because Donko's tattoos were not immediately apparent. IV AA 822.

When Detective Marin later interviewed Donko, Donko stated that he knew Shorty, but there was no evidence that Donko and Woods knew each other. IV AA 877. When Detective Marin asked Donko about his fingerprint in the vehicle, Donko said he was the passenger in the vehicle, which he described as an older model sedan, the night before the shooting. IV AA 878. Donko testified he met Woods in the past and hung out with him. IV AA 794, 844-847.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not violate Donko's protections against Double Jeopardy, as it appropriately corrected a clerical error by amending Donko's aggregate sentence.

ARGUMENT

I. DONKO WAS NOT SUBJECT TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY

Donko complains he was subject to double jeopardy when his Judgment of Conviction was amended. AOB at 16. He argues the district court's miscalculation was not a clerical error. AOB at 18. Donko claims not amending the Judgment of conviction would have been a "less severe option." AOB at 16.

Donko asserts the district court "explicitly stated: 'So the only things that will run consecutive are the three Attempt Murders with Use of a Deadly Weapon." APB at 13. This is true. V AA 974. However, Donko then claims the State sought to correct his sentence "because the judgment of conviction implied that Counts 1 and 2 were to run consecutive." AOB at 13. This is not true. Counts One and Two were never intended to run consecutively; instead, the State requested correction of "the total aggregate sentence based upon the charges at sentencing." I AA 198.

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that "no person shall 'be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.'" <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 128 Nev. 598, 604, 291 P.3d 1274, 1277-78 (2012). The Clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. Id.

However, "a judgment of conviction may be amended at *any time* to correct a clerical error..." <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 537, 540, 96 P.3d 761, 764 (2004). NRS 176.565 states:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors in the record arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

Donko claims that his minimum and maximum sentences were increased after he began serving his sentence. AOB at 14. He points to nowhere in the record, however, to show that his sentence for any given count was increased. The only change is to the aggregate sentence, which now reflects a correct tally of the individual sentences.

Donko's sentence is comprised of concurrent and consecutive terms of imprisonment. Counts Three, Four, and Five ran consecutively to all other counts as well as each of their respective deadly weapons enhancements. V AA 974-75. The enhanced sentences for use of a deadly weapon *must* run consecutively to the sentence imposed for the underlying crime. NRS 193.165(2).

Donko's terms of imprisonment can be organized into seven groups, each consecutive to the others:

- 1. Counts One, Two, Six, Seven, and Eight run concurrently, and the longest term is 24 to 60 months
- 2. Count Three is 36-96 months, consecutive to counts One, Two, Six, Seven, and Eight
- 3. Count Three's weapons enhancement is 12-30 months
- 4. Count Four is 36-96 months, consecutive to count Three

- 5. Count Four's weapons enhancement is 12-30 months
- 6. Count Five is 36-96 months, consecutive to count Four
- 7. Count Five's weapons enhancement is 12-30 months

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